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2025 68,008,092.94 9,695,914 110.43 15,744
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61,425,541.26 8,757,439 103.48 14,753
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2024 2023
3,11 651,182 92,839 845,834 120,591
4,9 67,461,114 9,617,931 65,982,786 9,407,166
5 94,439 13,464
68,206,735 9,724,234 66,828,620 9,527,756
11 200,561 28,594 130,514 18,607
6 106,017 15,115 68,572 9,776
306,578 43,709 199,086 28,384
10 67,900,157 9,680,525 66,629,534 9,499,373
67,900,157 9,680,525 66,629,534 9,499,373
2023-06 10 620,104 676,261
2023-06 109.498 15,611 98.526 14,047
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2024 12 31 2023 28
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7 529,596 75,505 256,506 36,570
7,11 17 2 64 9
8 7,474,170 1,065,592 (764,299) (108,966)
(8,812) (1,256) (591) (84)
10,587 1,509
8,005,558 1,141,352 (508, 320) (72,471)
11 (52,399) (7,471) (27,745) (3,956)
11 (61,183) (8,723) (32,534) (4,638)
11 (327,501) (46,692) (173,406) (24,722)
11 (6,550) (934) (3,468) (494)
11 (17,034) (2,429) (8.,197) (1,169)
(47,830) (6,819) (23,662) (3,373)
11 (8,085) (1,153) (4,000) (570)
11 (5,053) (720) (2,500) (356)
(30,860) (4,400) (15,267) (2,177)
(98, 250) (14,008) (52,022) (7,417)
(15,160) (2,161) (7.500) (1,069)
(174,651) (24,900)
11 (111) (16) (39) (6)
(26,247) (3.742) (12,843) (1,831)
(696, 263) (99, 266) (537,834) (76,679)
7,309,295 1,042,086 (1,046,154) (149, 150)
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66,629,534 9,499,373

10(a) 68,455,600 9,759,715

10(a) (6,038,672) (860,933) (779,912) (111,192)
(6,038,672) (860,933) 67,675,688 9,648,523
(6,038,672) (860,933) 67,675,688 9,648,523
7,309,295 1,042,086 (1,046,154) (149, 150)
67,900,157 9,680,525 66,629,534 9,499,373
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7,309,295 1,042,086 (1,046,154) (149, 150)
(529,613) (75,507) (256,570) (36,579)
6,779,682 966,579 (1,302,724) (185,729)
(1,478,328) (210,765) (65,982,786)  (9,407,166)

(94,439) (13,464)
70,047 9,987 130,514 18,607
529,613 75,507 256,570 36,579
5,806,575 827,843 (66,898,426)  (9,537,709)
68,455,600 9,759,715
(6,001,227) (855,595) (711,340) (101,416)
(6,001,227) (855,595) 67,744,260 9,658,299
(194,652) (27,752) 845,834 120,591

845,834 120,591
651,182 92,839 845,834 120,591
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Citprowsp Mede - index Limked Matunty Fund
- i sones Inest of Red Arc Giohal Imssimenls (Cayman) Tl
Financipl gfatemants far iie yeer anced 37 December 2024

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024

(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise stated)

Note 2024 2023
uso uspD
Assats
Cash and cash equivalents an 651,182 845 834
Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss 4.9 67,461 114 65,882,766
Arrounts due from broker B 94,438 -
Total assets 68,206,735 66,828,620
Liahilities
Accruals and other payables 11 200,561 130,514
Redemption payable & 106,017 68,572
Total liabilities 308,578 199,086
Net assets attributable to unitholders 10 67,000,157 66,628 534
Representing:
Total equity 67,900,157 56,529,534
Total number of units in issue
2023-068 USD Units 10 620,104 678 261
Net assat value per unit
2023-06 USD Units uUsh 109.498 UsD 38528

Approved and autharised for issus by the Trustee and the Manager on 27 June 2025,

_ ) Forand on behalf of CIBC Cariobean
o M T (s, ) Bank and Trust Company (Cayman)
A ot gy

FHILLIPS
b e Soct

wnm ) Limited (formerly FirstCaribbean
) International Bank and Trust Company
)

{Cayman) Limited) {"Trustee™)

For and on behalf of

/ )
| Citigroup First lnvestment
M/ } Management Limited ("Manager’)
)

The notes on pages 10 to 33 form part of these financial statemants,
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Cgroun NWode = Iadex Linked Malialy Fond
- & senes bust of Red Arc Gioha! Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial shatements for ihe year ended 371 December 2024

Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2024

(Expressed in United States dolfars unless otherwise stated)

Period from 28

June 2023 (date

of

commencement

Yearended of operations) to
31 December 31 December

Note 2024 2023
UsSD usD
Interest income from financdial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss 7 529 596 256,508
Interest income from bank balances 7.1 17 64
Net gainf{loss) on financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss & 7474170 (764,299)
Met foreign exchange loss (8.812) (591)
Other Income 10,587 -
Total income/{loss) 8,005,558 {508,320)
Management fee 11 (152,399) (27,745)
Administration, transfer agent and custodian fees 11 (61,183) (32,534)
Distributor fee 11 (327,501} {173,408)
Agent company fee 11 (6,550) (3.468)
Trustee fee 11 (17.034) (8.197)
Audit fee (47 .830) {23.662)
Financial statements preparation fee 11 (8,085) {4,000)
Regulatory expenses 11 (5,053) (2.500)
Professional fee (30,860) (15,267
Service provider fee (98,250) (52,022)
License fee (15,160) (7.500)
Preliminary expenses - (174,651)
Bank charges 11 {(111) {39)
Miscellaneous expenses 126,247) {12.643)
Total operating expenses (695 263) (537.834)
Change in net assets attributable to
unitholders from operations and total
com prehensive income for the year/period 7,309,295 (1,046,154)

The notes on pages 10 to 33 form part of these financial statements.
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Cgroun NWode = Iadex Linked Malialy Fond
- & sanes bust of Red Arc Gioha! Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial shatements for ihe year ended 371 December 2024

Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2024

(Expressed in United States dolfars unless otherwise stated)

Period from 28

June 2023 (date

of

commencement

Yearended of operations) to
31 December 31 December

2024 2023
Nate usoD uso
Balance at the beginning of the
year/period 66,629 534 -
Transactions with unitholders, recorded
directly in equity
Subscription of units 10{a) - 68,455,600
Redemption of units 10(a) {6,038.672) (779.912)
(6,038,672) 67,675,688
Total transactions with unitholders (6,038.672) 67,675,688
Change in net assets attributable to
unitholders from operations and total
comprehensive income for the
year/period 7,309,295 (1.046,154)
Balance at the end of the year/period 67 900,157 66,629,534

The notes on pages 10 to 23 form part of these financial statements.
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- & sanes bust of Red A Gioha! Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial shatements for ihe year ended 371 December 2024

Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2024

(Expressed in United States dolfars unless otherwise stated)

Period from 28
June 2023 (dale
of
commencement
Yearended of operations) to
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
uspo usp
Operating activities
Change in net assets attributable to unitholders from
operations and total comprehensive income for the
yearperiod 7,308,295 (1,046,154)
Adjustments for:
Interest income (529613) (256.570)
Operating profit/{loss) before changes in working
capital 6,779,682 (1.302,724)
Increase in finandal assets at fair value through profit
or loss (1.478,328) (65,982 786)
Increase in amounts due from broker (94 429) -
Increase in accruals and other payables 70,047 130,514
Interest received 529613 256,570
MNet cash generated from/{used in} operating
activities 5,606,975 (66,898,426)
Financing activities
Proceeds from unit subscriptions - 68,455,600
Payments on unit redemptions (6.001,227) (711,340)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing
activities (6,001,227) 67,744 260
MNet (decrease)increase in cash and cash
equivalents (194, 652) 845,834
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
yearf/period 845,834 -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
year/period 651,182 845,834

The notes on pages 10 to 33 form part of these financial statements.
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- & sanes bust of Red A Gioha! Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial shatements for ihe year ended 371 December 2024

MNotes to the financial statements
(Expressed in United 5 tates dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 General

Red Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust (the “Trust”) is an umbrella unit trust established
as an exempted frust under the Trusts Act of the Cayman Islands by a Trust Deed dated 21
October 2008, as amended and restated on 10 March 2015, between Citigroup First
Investment Management Limited as manager (the "Manager”) and CIBC Caribbean Bank and
Trust Company {Cayman) Limited (name changed with effect on 13 August 2024, formery,
FirstCaribbean Intemational Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited) as trustee (the
“Trustee”) (joinfly “Management”). The Trust registered under the Mutual Funds Act of the
Cayman Islands on 27 October 2008. Citigroup Mote —Index Linked Maturity Fund (the "Series
Trust") was established on 27 March 2023, The Series Trust's first dealing day was 28 June
2023,

The Seres Trust's investment objective is to provide Unitholders of the applicable class of
Units with return, by adopting investment strategy set out in note 9(a).

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Trust and the Series Trust had no
employees, The investment activities of the Series Trust are managed by the Manager. The
administration and custodian functions of the Seres Trust are delegated to Citibank. N.A. Hong
Kong Branch (the "Administrator” and the "Custodian™).

2  Material accounting policies
{a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Cerlified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. The material accounting policies adopted by the
Series Trust are set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HIKFRSs that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Seres Trust. Mote 2{d) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of thesa
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Seres Trust for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

The Series Trust has consistently applied the accounting policies during the year and are
consistent with the prior perod.

{b) Basis of preparation
The functional and presentation cumrency of the financial statements is the United States dollar
(“USD") (rounded to the nearest USD) and not the local curency of the Cayman Islands,

reflecting the fact that the units of the Series Trust are issued and redeemed in USD and the
Series Trust's performance is measured in USD terms,

10
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Financial shatements for ihe year ended 371 December 2024

2  Material accounting policies (continued)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical
cost basis except that certain financial instruments are stated at their fair value as explained
in the accounting policies, note 2(e) below. Other financial assets and liabiliies are stated at
amortised cost,

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires Management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the drcumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the pericd in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, orin the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by Management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the finandial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note
12,

The previous financial statements were prepared for a shortened period of approximately 6
months for the period from 28 June 2023 (date of commencement of operations) to 31
December 2023, Consequently, the comparative amounts for the statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows, and the related notes are not
comparative as they relate to a shorter period than the current year.

fc) Foreign currency translation

Foreign curmency transactions durng the perod are translated intc USD at the foreign
exchange rates at the fransactions dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated into USD at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or
loss as net foreign exchange gain or loss, except for those arising from financial instruments
at fair value through profit orloss, which are recognised as a component of the net gain or loss
on finandial instruments at fair value through profit or loss,

{d) Changes in accounting policies
The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Series Trust. MNone of these developments have had a
material effect on how the Series Trust's result and financial position for the curmrent or prior
periods have been prepared or presented.

The Series Trust has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the cument accounting period (see note 13),

11
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2  Material accounting policies {continued)
{e) Financial instruments
{i} Initial recognition

The Series Trust classifies its financial instruments into different categories at inception as
mentioned in (i) below. Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, which
nomally will be equal to the transaction price. Transaction costs on financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are expensed as incurmed.

The Series Trust recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A regular way purchase or sale of financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss is recognised using frade date
accounting. From these dates, any gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabiliies at fair value through profit or loss are recorded as they
OCCUr.

(i) Categorisation

On initial recognition, the Series Trust classifies financial assets as measured at amortised
cost or or Fair Value Through Profit or Loss ("FWVTPL").

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and
is not designated as at FVTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (*SPPI").

All other financial assets of the Series Trust are measured at FWTPL.

Business model assessment

In making an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is
held, the Seres Trust considers all of the relevant information about how the business is
managed, including:

- the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice. This
includes whether the investment strategy focuses on eaming contractual interest income,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assats to
the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows
through the sale of the assets,

12
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Material accounting policies [continued)
- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to Management;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and how those risks are managed,

- how the Manager is compensated: e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of
the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of finandial assets in prior pericds, the reasons
for such sales and expectations about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial asseats to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition
are not considered sales for this purpose. consistent with the Series Trust's continuing
recognition of the assets.

The Series Trust has determined that it has two business models,

- Held-to-collect business model: this includes cash and cash equivalents and amounts due
from broker. These financial assets are held to collect contractual cash flow.

- Other business model: this includes investment in the Citigroup Mote. These financial
instruments are managed and their perfformance is gvaluated, on a fair value basis, with
frequent sales taking place.

Assessment whether caontractual cash flows are SPFI

Forthe purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for
the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of
time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity sk and administrative costs), as
well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Seres Trust considers the
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset
contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows
such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Series Trust
considers,

contingent events that would change the amount or iming of cash flows;
- leverage features;
- prepayment and extension features,

- tems that limit the Seres Trust's claim to cash flows from spedfied assets (e.g. non-
recourse features); and

- features that modify consideration for of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of
interest rates).

12
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2  Material accounting policies (continued)

The Series Trust classifies its investments based on the business model and contractual cash
flows assessment. Accordingly, the Series Trust classifies all its investments in debt
investments into financial assets at FYTPL category. Financial assets measured at amortised
cost include cash and cash equivalents and amounts due from broker. Financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost include accruals and other payables and redemption payable.

Reclassifications

- Financial assets are not reclassified subsaquent to their initial recognition unless the Series
Trust were to change its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all
affected financial assets would be reclassified on the first day of the first reporting perod
following the change in the business model.

{iiiy Fair value measurement principles

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or,
in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Series Trust has access at that
date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Series Trust measures the fair value of a finandal instrument using the
quoted price in an active market for that instument. A market is regarded as active if
transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide
pricing information on an ongoing basis. The Series Trust measures instruments quoted in an
active market at a traded price (within bid-ask spread), because this price provides a
reascnable approximation of the exit price,

If there is no quoted market price on a recognised stock exchange or a price from a
broker/dealer for non-exchange-traded financial instruments, or if the market for it is not active,
the fair value of the instrument is estimated using valuation technigues that provide a reliable
estimate of prices which could be obtained in actual market transactions.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the
transaction price - i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. Ifthe Series Trust
determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair
value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability
nor based on a valuation technigue that used only data from observable markets, the financial
instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair
value at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is
recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later
than when the valuation is supported wholly by observable market data or the transaction is
closed out.

Where discounted cash flow technigues are used, estimated future cash flows are based on
Management's best estimates and the discount rate used is a market rate at the end of the
reporting penod applicable for an instrument with similar terms and conditiocns. Where other
pricing models are used, inputs are based on market data at the end of the reporting period.

The Series Trust recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end
of the reporting pericd in which the change has occurmed.
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2  Material accounting policies (continued)
{iv] Impairment

The Series Trust recognises loss allowances for Expected Credit Losses ("ECLs") on financial
assets measured at amortised cost.

The Series Trust measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for
the following, which are measured at 12-month ECLs:

- financial assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

- other financial assets for which credit risk {i.e. the risk of default cccurning over the expected
life of the asset) has not increasad significantly since initial recognition.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recegnition and when estimating ECLs, the Series Trust considers reasonable and
suppertable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort.  This
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Series Trust's
historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking
information.

The Seres Trust assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantty if
it is more than 30 days past due.

The Series Trust considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Seres Trust in full, without
recourse by the Series Trust to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

- the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

The Series Trust censiders a financial asset to have low credit risk when the credit rating of
the counterparty is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investiment grade’. The
Series Trust considers this to be Baa3 or higher per Moody's or BEB- or higher per Standard
& Poor's.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument.

12-month EGLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within
the 12 months after the reporting date {or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument
is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period
over which the Series Trust is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLS
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity

in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Series Trust expects to receive).
ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
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2  Material accounting policies (continued)
Credit-impaired financial assels
At each reporting date, the Series Trust assesses whether financial assets camied at amortised
cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occumed,
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired incdudes the following obsenvable data;
- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
- a breach of confract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; or
- itis probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross
carrying amount of the assets,

White-off
The gross carrying amount of a finandial asset is written off when the Series Trust has no
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.

{v) Derecognition

The Series Trust derecognises a financial asset when the contractual fights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or it transfers the rghts to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
assets are transferred or in which the Series Trust neither transfers nor retains substantially all
of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain confrol of the financial asset,

The Seres Trust derecognises a finandal liability when its contractual obligations are
discharged, cancelled, or expired.

{vi) Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Series Trust has a legal right to offset
the amounts and it intends to either settie on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

() Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are short-term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which

are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of
maturity at acquisition.
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2  Material accounting policies {continued)

fa) Interestincome
Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the original effective interest
rate of the instrument calculated at the acquisition or origination date. Interestincome includes
the amortisation of any discount or premium, fransaction costs or other differences between

the initial carrying amount of an interest-bearing instrument and its amount at maturity
calculated on an effective interest rate basis.

It is recorded gross of withholding tax imposed in the country of origin and such tax is
separately recognised in profit or loss, if any.

{h) Net gain or loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Met gain or loss from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss includes all
realised and unrealised fair value changes, and foreign exchange differences but excudes
interest income,

{i}  Preliminary expenses
Preliminary expenses of the Series Trust are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

{i} Expenses
All expenses of the Series Trust are recognisad in profit or loss on an accrual basis.

k) Income tax
Cayman Islands
Under the current taxation regime in the Cayman Islands, the Senes Trust is exempt from
paying taxes on income, profits or capital gains. The Trust has received an undertaking from
the Govemor in Cabinet of the Cayman Islands exempting it from tax for a period of 50 years
from the date of the creation of the Trust. Accordingly, no provision for income tax is included
in these financial statements.

Hong Kong

The Seres Trust is not expected to be subject to Hong Kong tax in respect of any of its
investment activities.
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2  Material accounting policies (continued)
() Redemption of units by unitholders

Units issued by the Series Trust may be repurchased at the option of the Unitholders on each
day on which commercial banks are open for business in each of London, Mew York, Hong
Kong, and Tokyo, and on which each of the Chicago Mercantile Exchange. and the New York
Stock Exchange is open for its regulator trading session. The repurchase price of the units is
the net asset value per share of the Unit,

{m) Units in issue

The Series Trust dassifies financial instruments issued as financial liabiliies or equity
instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual terms of the instruments.

A puttable finandal instrument that includes a contractual obligation for the issuer to
repurchase or redeem that instrument for cash or another financial asset is classified as equity
if it meets all of the following conditions:

{iy it entitles the holder to a pro rata share of the Series Trust's net assets in the event of
the Series Trust's liquidation;

(i} itisin the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of instruments;

(i} allfinancial instruments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes
of instruments have identical features;

tivy apart from the contractual obligation for the Series Trust to repurchase or redeem the
instrument for cash or ancther financial asset, the instrument does not include any other
features that would require classification as a liability, and

(v} the total expected cash flows attibutable to the instrument over its life are based
substantially cn the profit or loss, the change in the recognised net assets or the change
in the fair value of the recognised and unrecognised net assets of the Series Trust over
the life of the instrument.

The Seres Trust has one class of redeemable units in issue. This is the most subordinate
class of has financial instuments in the Series Trust. The redeemable units provide
unitholders with the nght to require redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the
unithelder's share in the net assets of the Seres Trust at each dealing day, and also in the
event of the Series Trust's liquidation.

The Series Trust's realisable units meet the conditions to be dassified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue or redemption of units are recognised
directly in equity as a deduction from the proceeds or part of the acquisition cost.
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2  Material accounting policies (continued)

{n) Related parties

{a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Series Trust if that
person:

(b}

(i)
(ii)
(iii)

has control or joint control over the Series Trust,;
has significant influence over the Series Trust; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Series Trust or the Series
Trust's parent.

An entity is related to the Series Trust if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iif)
(iv)

v}

(wi)
(vii)

{wiily

The entity and the Series Trust are members of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related 1o the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a Series Trust of which the other entity is a member),

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Series Trust or an entity related to the Series Trust.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a){i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the Series Trust orto the Series Trust's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the Series Trust,

3 Cash and cash equivalents

2024 2023
uso UsSD
Current deposits with a bank 651,182 845,834

Cash held by the Series Trust is deposited with Citibank, N.A. Hong Kong Branch.
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

2024 2023
usD UsD
Mon-dervative financial instruments:
- Citigroup Mote 67,461,114 65,982 786
Amounts due from broker
2024 2023
usD usD
Amounts due from broker 94 4389 -

The amounts due from broker balance accounts for sales transactions pending settlement,
which is expected to be settled within one month from the report date.

Redemption payable

2024 2023
usD usD
Redemption payable 106,017 68,572

The balances represent the amount payable to unitholders for redeemed units and are
expected to be settled within one month.

Interest income

FPeriod from 28

June 2023 (date

af

commencement

Yearended of operations) to
31 Decemnber 31 December

2024 2023
usD usD
Interest income from financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss:
- Citigroup Note 529 596 256,506
Interest income from bank balances:
- Cash deposits with a bank i7 64
520613 256 570
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8  Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Period from 28

June 2023 (date

of

commencement

Yearended of operations)to
31 December 31 December

2024 2023
UsD UsD
Mon-derivative finandial instruments:
- Citigroup Note 7,474,170 (764,299)
Represanting:
Met realised gain/(loss) 457 076 (47 462)
MNet unrealised gainfloss) 7,017,094 (716,837)
7.474170 (764,299)

b Financial instruments and associated risks

The Series Trust's investing activities expose it to various types of financial risks that are
associated with the financial instruments and markets in which it invests according to the
investment strategy. The risks that the Series Trust is exposed to are market risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. Market risk includes interest rate risk, curency risk and price risk.

The nature and extent of the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting
year/period and their associated financial risks, as well as the risk management policies
employed by the Series Trust are discussed below.

{a) Investment strategy

The investment strategy of the Series Trust is to provide unitholders holding the applicable
class of Units until and including the Maturity Date for such class of Units with.

ia) a target retumn expressed as a percentage (the "Capital Protection Level") of the Issue
Price and specified in the applicable Class Supplement (the "Fixed Portion”) and

(b} a refurn linked to the performance of the Fee Incusive Level 2 Index applicable to
such class of Units (the "Active Portion”), through investment of all, or substantially
all, of the proceeds from the issue of Units in certain principal protected notes issued
by the Mote Issuer and guaranteed by the Note Guarantor (the "MNote® or the "Citigroup
Mote")

The investment objective will be achieved through investment of all, or substantially all, of the
proceeds from the issue of Units in certain principal protected notesissued by the Motes Issuer
and guaranteed by the Notes Guarantor.
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9  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
{a) Investment strategy (continued)

The Mote is intended to provide a return linked to the Fee Inclusive Level 2 Index applicable to
each class of Units. The Fee Indusive Level 2 Index provides wvanable exposure, after
deduction of certain rates, to one or more reference indices that is adjusted in order to achieve
a certain target annualized volatility level. Refer to the offering memorandum, and the dass
supplements of the Series Trust for details around spedific features of the Note.

It should be noted that the investment objective of the Senes Trust may only be realized
provided that the unitholders hold their units until maturity.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Series Trust does not benefit from principal protection and is
neither insured nor guaranteed. An investment in the Series Trust involves certain investment
risks, including the possible loss of principal.

(b} Market risk

All investments held by the Series Trust are measured at fair value through profit or loss, and
all changes in market conditions directly affect profit or loss. Market risk is the risk that the
value of the investm ents will fluctuate as a result of changes in interest rates, exchange rates
or prices.

{i}  Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the future

cash flows or the fair value of financial instruments and therefore result in a potential gain or

loss to the Series Trust. The Series Trust's interest rate risk is managed on an ongoing basis
by the Manager.

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Seres Trust's interest-bearing
instruments at the end of the reporiing year/period;

Period from 28 June
2023 (date of
Year ended commencemernt of
31 December operations) to 31
2024 December 2023
uUsD UsD
Floating rate instruments:
Cash and cash eguivalents 651,182 B45 834
Fixed rate instruments:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
- Citigroup Mote 67,461,114 65,982,786
Total GB, 112295 66,828,620

The interest income received from cash and cash equivalents is minimal during the
yeariperod. As a result, cash and cash equivalents are excluded from the interest rate
sensitivity analysis.
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Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
Market risk {continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table indicates the year/period in which the interest-bearing assets mature as at
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023;

Year ended 31 December 2024

Tysar  Over | yoar o Over
or less S years 5 years Total
usp UsD usD UsD
Assets
Financial assets af fair value
through profit or loss
Man-deriative financial instruments
- Citigroup Mote - 67,461,114 - 67,451,114
Total - 67,461,114 - 67,461,114

Period from 28 June 2023 (date of commencemen of operations) fo
31

December 2023
Tyear  Qwver 1 yearto Cver
or less 5 years S years Total
usoD uso uso Uso
Assets
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Mon-derivative financial instruments
- Citigroup Mote - 65,982 788 - 65,982 785
Total - 65,882 786 - 65,982 785
23
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8 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
Interest rale sensitivity

The Citigroup Mote held by the Series Trust provide exposure to interest rate linked retum
profile. Atthe date of the statement of financial position, assuming all other factors unchanged,
it is estimated that an increase in interest rates of 50 (2023: 50) basis points would result in a
decrease in the net assats attributable to unitholders and the total comprehensive income for
the yearperiod by US$974.797 (2023: US$1.491,156); an equal change in the opposite
direction would result in an increase in the net assets atiributable to unitholders and the tofal
comprehensive income by an approximately equal amount.

{ii}y Currency risk

The Series Trust may invest in financial instruments and enter into transactions that are
denominated in currencies other than its functional currency. Consequently, the Seres Trust
is exposed to risks that the exchange rate of its functional currency relative to other foreign
currencies may change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the value of that portion of
the Series Trust's financial assets or liabilities denominated in cumrencies other than USD.

The fluctuations in the rate of exchange between the currency in which the asset or liability is
denominated and the functional currency could result in an appreciation or depreciation in the
bfair value of that asset or liability. The Manager monitors the Series Trust's cumency
exposures on an ongoing basis and may use derivative financial instruments for hedging the
foreign cumency exposure,

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, had USD weakened by 10% (2023: 10%)
in relation to Japanese Yen, with all other varables held constant, net assets attributable to
unithelders and the total comprehensive income for the year/period would have increased by
the amounts noted below.

Change in net
assels i USD
MNet weakensd
EXPOSLIE by 10%
Ush usD
As at 31 December 2024
Currency
Japanese Yen 73,229 7.323
Total 73,229 7,323
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9  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

Change in nel
assets f USD
Net weakermed
EXpOSLUe by 10%
UsD ush
As at 31 December 2023
Currancy
Japanese Yen 62,561 9,205
Total 2,961 9,206

A 10% (2023 10%) strengthening of USD against the above cumrency would have resulted in
an approximately equal but opposite effect on the financial statement amounts, on the basis
that all other variables remain constant.

{iil} Price nsk

Price risk is the sk that the value of a finandial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes
in market prices, whether caused by factors specific to an individual investment, its issuer or
all factors affecting all instruments traded in the market.

Price sensifivity

As at 31 December 2024, it is estimated that an increase of 20% (2023: 5%) of the Fee
Inclusive Level 2 Index {i.e. US Equity Futures Risk Control Index) of the Citigroup Note would
have increased the net assets attributable to unitholders and total comprehensive income for
the year/period by US511,310,188 (2023 US52,945 455); a decrease of 20% (2023: 5%) of
the underlying index would have decreased the net assets attributable to unitholders and total
comprehensive income by US$8 829,742 (2023: USE1,948,746).

{c) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation
or a commitment that it has entered into with the Series Trust, The Series Trust's exposure to
credit isk is monitored by the Manager on an ongoing basis.

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, all of the Series Trust's finandal assets were
exposed to credit isk. These include investment in Citigroup Note, cash placed with a bank
and amounts due from broker for sales transaction pending setlement.

All the cash held by the Senes Trust is deposited with Citibank, N.A. Hong Kong Branch which
is also the Administrator and Custodian. All of the assets of the Seres Trust are held by the
Custodian.

The credit rating of Citibank, N.A. Hong Kong Branch, the Custodian, is "A+" (2023: A+) as
rated by Standard & Poor's. The credit rating of Citigroup Global Markets Holdings Inc., the

issuer of the Citigroup Mote, is "A" (2023: A) as rated by Standard & Poor's. The Citigroup MNote
held by the Series Trust are not rated by extemal rating agendies.
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9  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

The credit ratin% of Citigroup Inc., the guarantor of the Citigroup MNote, was "BBE+" (2023:
BBEB+) as rated by Standard & Poor's. The credit isk is considered insignificant.

Amounts arising from ECL

Impairment on cash and cash equivalents and amounts due from broker has been measured
on a 12-month expected loss basis and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The
Series Trust considers that these exposures have low credit risk based on the external credit
ratings of the counterparties.

The Manager considers the probability of default to be close to zero as the counterparties have
a strong capacity to meet their contractual obligations and amounts due from broker in the near
term. There is no impaiment allowance recognised on cash and cash equivalents and
amounts due from broker,

(d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the risk that the Manager may not be able to convert investments into
cash to meet quuidilg needs in a timely manner. As unitholders may redeem units on any
Repurchase Day, the Series Trust is exposed to liquidity risk of meeting unitholder
redemptions. Any amount payable to unitholders in respect of the redemption of units shall
normally be paid within three business days following the relevant Repurchase Day as defined
in note 2(1), subject to the receipt of the applicable sale proceeds of the investments.

Analysis of labilities by remaining matunly

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities of the Series Trust's liabilities
as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023

31 December 2024

Withir 1 month to I months  Over 1 yearfo
Total 1 manth 3 months fo 1 year 5 years
LED usD uso UsD usD

Non-trading liabilities

Accruals and other

payables 200,581 161,188 38,363 - -
Redemption payable 106,047 108,017 - - -
Total 306,578 267,215 38,363 - -

31 December 2023

Within 1 month fe 3 morths  Ower 1 yearfo
Total 1 month 3 manths fo 1 year 3 years
UsD UsD usD usD UsD

Non-trading liabllities

Accruals and other

payables 130,514 102 848 27 668 - -
Redemption payable 88,572 68 572 - g d
Total 1599, 088 171,418 27 ge8 - “
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Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
Specific instruments

The following Citigroup Mote was outstanding as at year/period end:
As at 31 December 2024

Aggregate
Underlying principal armourd Maturity
Underlying exposure unis {Npfe) dafe Fair value
usp uso
LIS Equity Fulures Risk Confrol
Inglex USD Units 82,010,400 27-Jun-2028 67 461,114
67 461,114
As at 31 December 2023
Aggregate
Urnrdle riyirg principal amount Maturity
Underlying exposure unis {Notka) dafe Fair value
uso uso
US Equity Futures Risk Contral
Index USD Units 67,626,100 27-Jun-28 65,962 786
65,9682 786

Mote:  Aggregate principal amount means the Issue Price multiplied by the number of units
of a class of Units in issue on the report dates.

Fair values
Financial instruments carred at fair value

The following table presents the fair value of the Series Trust's financial instruments measured
at the end of the reperiing year/period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRE 13, Fair value measurement, The level into which a fair
value measurement is dassified is determined with reference to the observability and
significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e, unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilites at the
measurement date

- Lewvel 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are not available

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs
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9  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

2024
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tolfal
uso uso UsD uso
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss:
Men-derivative financial
instruments:
- Citigroup Mote . 67,461,114 - 67 481,114
67,461,114 - 67 461,114
2023
Leved 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tolal
uso ush UsD uso
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss:
Mon-dervative financial
instruments:
- Citigroup Mote - 65,582,786 - 65,882,786
- 65,582 785 - 65,982,786

During the vyear ended 31 December 2024 and the period from 28 Junme 2023 (date of
commencement of operations) to 31 December 2023, there were no transfers amongst
instruments in Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3.

{iiy Financial instruments carried at other than fair value
The financial instruments not measured at FYTPL include:

i. cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from broker, redemption payable and accruals and
other payables. These are short-term financial assets and financial liabiliies whose camying
amounts approximate fair value, because of their short-term nature and the high credit quality
of counterparties; and

ii. net assets attributable to unitholders. The Seres Trust routinely redeems and issues the
redeemable units at the amount equal to the proportionate share of net assets of the Series
Trust at the time of redemption, calculated on a basis consistent with that used in these
financial statements. Accordingly, the camying amount of net assets attributable to unitholders
approximates their fair value. The units are categorised into Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
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Net assets attributable to unitholders

Units issued and redeemed

Musrrrber of

units

2023-06 USD Units

At 28 June 2023 (date of commencement of

operations) -
Units issued during the period B84 556
Units redeemed during the period {8,295)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 G7E 261
Units issued during the year -
Units redeemed during the year (56,157)
At 31 December 2024 620,104

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, all units issued by the Seres Trust are
classified as equity. As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Series Trust has
only one dass of units outstanding, the 2023-06 USD Units. The closing date of the 2023-06
USD Units was 28 June 2024, and its maturity date is 28 June 2028,

The initial offering of the 2023-06 USD Units were at a price of US$100 per unit. Units may be
redeemed on the redemption date and also in the event of the Series Trust's liquidation at the
net asset value per unit on the relevant redemption date.

In meetings of unitholders for any resolution to be proposed in respect of the Series Trust,
individual unitholder present in person, by proxy or by representative, has one vote for every
unit of which he is the holder.

The Trust and the Series Trust do not have any extemally imposed capital requirements. As
at 31 December 2024, the Series Trust had net assets aftributable to unitholders of
USEET 900,157 (2023: USSE6,629 534). The Series Trust strives to invest the funds received
from the issue of units in investments that meet the Seres Trust's investment objectives while
maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet the funding needs when unitholders redeem their units.

Unitholders of the Series Trust cannot switch their units into units of any other senes trust of
the Trust,

Reconciliation of net assels

In accordance with the Series Trust's offering memorandum, the net assets of the Series Trust
are computed using the pre-determined cut-off time for all fransactions. Transactions after that
offering memorandum based cut-off time are recorded the next day. Under the HKFRSs
requirements, these transactions are recorded on the same day to comply with recognition and
derecognition criteria for the financial instruments. This approach creates a timing difference
between the HKFRSs net assets and units issued and the offering memorandum net assets
and units issued.

28
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10 Net assets attributable to unitholders {continued)
{b) Reconciliation of net assets {continued)

The Series Trust's accounting policy is to account for certain recurring fund level expenses
ii.e. professional fees, regulatory expenses, financial statements preparation fees, audit fees
expense, trustee feas, and other miscellaneous expenses) by estimating a total amount over
an estimated life of the Series Trust of 5 years, then recognising those expenses, on a pro-
rata basis over a 5 year period starting from 28 June 2023 (date of commencement of
operations).

HKFRS require expenses to be accounted for on an accrual basis. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the Manager had evaluated, and concluded the difference between expenses
recognised per the Series Trust's expense policy, versus that of HKFRS to be insignificant
(2023: insignificant). All other fund level expenses (i.e. management fees, distributor fees, and
fund administration expenses) are accounted for on an accrual basis.

A reconciliation of the net assets between the amounts computed for valuation purposes and
the amounts computed in accordance with HKFRSs as reported is as follows:

Peviod from 28

June 2023 (date of

commencement of

Year ended operations) to

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

LSD Units S0 Units

uso uspD

Met assets attributable to unitholders for valuation purposes 67,982,282 66,627 885

Adjustment for expense policy for current yearperiod - 1,642

Adjustment on timing difference {82,125) =
Met assets attributable to unitholders as reported in the

financial statements 67,900,157 66,620 534

A reconciliation of the number of units between the numbers usad for valuation purposes and
the numbers recorded in accordance with HKFRSs as reported is as follows:

31 December
2024
2023086
USD Units
Units issued for valuation purpose 520,854
Adjustment on timing difference (730)
Units issued as reported in the financial
statements 520,104

As at 31 December 2022, there were no timing differences between units issued reported
under HKFRSs and the offering memorandum.
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11 Related parties and other key contracts
(a) Related parties

Charges and expenses from related parties in respect of services provided to the Series Trust
are as follows:

Management fee: The Manager is entiled to a management fee of 0.08% per
annum of the Calculation Amount (note) atiributable to each
class of Units. The fee is accrued daily and payable monthly in
armears.

Administrator and transfer  The Administrator is entitled fo receive in respect of each class
agent fees: of Units, payable out of the trust fund of the Series Trust, an
administration fee of 0.06% per annum of the Calculation
Amount (note) attributable to each class of Units, calculated

and accrued daily, and payable monthly in amear.

Transfer agent fees are charged based on volume of capital
transactions or by the number of distributors, depending on the
nature of service scope. Transfer agent fees are not subject 1o
a monthly minimum.

Custodian fee; The Custodian is entitied to receive in respect of each class of
Units, payable out of the trust fund of the Seres Trust, a
custodian fee of 0.01% per annum of the Calculation Amount
(note) attributable to each class of Units calculated and
accrued daily and payable monthly in amear

Trustes fee: The Trustes charges a fee of US§15,000 per annum.

Agent company fee: The Agent Company charges a fee of 0.01% per annum of the
Calculation Amount (note} attributable to each dass of Units.
The fee is accrued dally and payable monthly in amears.

Regulatory expenses: The Trustee charges an AML fee of USS4 500 per annum.

Financial statements The Administrator is entifled to a fee of USE8,000 per annum.
preparation fee:

MNote:  Caleulation Amount means the Issue Price multiplied by the number of units of a dass
of Units in issue at the time of calculation
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11 Related parties and other key contracts {continued)

The following summarises the significant related party transactions of the Series Trust:

Pariod from 28 June 2023 (dafe
of commencement of
operations) to 31 December
31 December 2024 2023

Expenses Fayabie Expenzes Payabis

uso LED uso uso

Management fea 52,399 4,353 27,745 4,599
Administration, transfer agency and

custodian fees 61,183 18,200 32,5 8,249

Trustes fee 17,034 5421 B,1497 4,005

Agent company fee 6,550 544 3,468 575

Regulatory expenses 5,053 1,928 2,500 1,375

Financial statements preparation fee 8,085 4,085 4,000 4,000

The Series Trust utilises the banking services provided by Citibank, M.A. Hong Kong Branch
in the ordinary course of their banking and securities custodian business. Information relating
to the cash and cash equivalents and investment balance is disclosed in note 3 and note 4
respectively. Dunng the year/period ended 31 December 2024, the interest income earned
from the bank balances maintained with the Custodian amounted to USS17 (2023: USDE4)
and the bank charges incurred amounted to US$111 (2023: USD39).

The issuer of the Citigroup Note, Citigroup Capital Markets Holdings. Inc. is an affiliated enfity
of the Manager. During the year/period ended 31 December 2024, interest income from the
Citigroup Note were US$529 596 (2023 US$256,506). Refer to note 9(a) for the Series Trust's
investment strategy, induding a description of the Citigroup MNote, and refer to note 9(e) for
additional details of the Citigroup Note.

{b) Other key contracts
Distributor

The Distributor charges a fee up to 0.50% per annum of the Calculation Amount attributable
to each class of Units that the Distributor is the registered holder. Calculation Amount means
the Issue Price multiplied by the number of units of a class of Units in issue at the time of
calculation. The fee is accrued daily and payable monthly in arears. Duringsme goearmeriod
ended 31 December 2024, distributor fee incured amounted to USD327,501 (2023:
USD173,405). As at yeanperiod end date, USD27, 204 (2023; USD28,745) of the distributor
fee remained payable and is included in accruals and other payables.

12 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Estimation of fair values

The fair values of financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss are
derived by valuation models using current market parameters as described in note 2{eXiii).
Fair value estimates are made at a specified point in time, based on market conditions and
information about the financial instruments. These eslimates are subject in nature and invelve
uncertainties and matters of significant judgement and there cannot be detemmined with

precision. MNevertheless, fair values can be reliably determined within a reasonable range of
estimates.

32

144/254



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Clgrous Mode = indax Limked Mafualy Fund
- & sanes bust of Red A Gioha! Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial slatements for ihe year ended 371 December 2024

13 Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a few
amendments and new standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2024 and which have not been adopted in these financial statements. These include the
following which may be relevant to the Series Trust,

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign

exchanges rates: Lack of exchangeability 1 January 2025
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instfruments and HKFRS 7,
Financial instruments. disclosures - Amendments fo the
classification and measurement of financial instruments 1 January 2026

Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume
11 1 January 2026

HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in finandial statements 1 January 2027
The Series Trust is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
amendments, new standard and interpretafions is expected to be in the pericd of initial
application. So far the Series Trust has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have
a significant impact on the Series Trust's results of operations and financial position.

14 Subsequent events

In preparing these financial statements, the Series Trust has evaluated and concluded that
there are no subsequent events required to be disclosad up to the date of the auditors’ report,
which is the date that the financial statements are available to be issued.
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Supplementary information (unaudited)

Performance table
(Expressed in United States dollars)

Petiod from 28
June 2023
{dfate of
commencement
of operations)
Year ended to
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
Total net asset value (calculated in accordance
with the Offering Memorandum ) USD 67,982,282 USD B6627 885
MNet asset value per unit {calculated in
accordance with the Offering Memorandum )
- USD Units UsSD 109498 UsSD 98524
Price record (calculated in accordance with the
Offering Memorandum;
- Highest net asseat value per unit during the
year/period
- USD Units UsD 114220 USD  101.000
- Lowest net asset value per unit during the
yearfperiod
- USD Units UsD 96260 USD 88980
- Met invesiment retum during the year/period
- USD Units 11.14% -1.48%

The net investment returmn for 31 December 2024 was calculated by taking the difference
between the net asset value per unit (calculated in accordance with the Explanatory
Memorandum) ("NAVPU") at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 divided by the
NAVPU at 31 December 2023.

For comparative presentation purposes, the net investment retum for the period ended 31
December 2023 was calculated by taking the difference between the NAVPU at 31 December

2023 and issuance price of US$100 per unit divided by the unit issuance price of US$100 per
unit.
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2023-06
2025
61,644,315.42 8,788,630,049
218,774.16 31,190,632
61,425,541.26 8,757,439,417
593,593.000
103.48 14,753
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200 200 3,674 2025
100 1,837
2025 6,976 8,010 13
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APAC
JANA

50
50 F, Champion Tower, Three Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong

2025 34

997,742,482
424,704,843,727
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2024 12 31
2024 12 31
2024 2024 2023 2023
45,421,853 834,399,440 52,090,112 956,895,357
3,159,756 58,044,718 2,930,485 53,833,009
86,301 1,585,349 (1,089,899) (20,021,445)
48,667,910 894,029,507 53,930,698 990,706,922
(41,112,826) (755,242 ,614) (66,283,763)  (1,217,632,726)
7,555,084 138,786,893 (12,353,065) (226,925,804)
@ 1,635,514 30,044,392 8,078 148,393
9,190,598 168,831,285 (12,344,987) (226,777,411)
11 27 ( )
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2024 12 31
2024 12 31
2024 2024 2023 2023
() 1,647,053 30,256,364 11,539 211,971
5,494,418 100,932,459 5,005,211 91,945,726
107,750,084 1,979,369,043 90,907,095 1,669,963,335
113,244,502 2,080,301,502 95,912,306 1,761,909,061
47,152,100 866,184,077 37,235,308 684,012,608
©) 139,680 2,565,922
47,152,100 866,184,077 37,374,988 686,578,530
66,092,402 1,214,117,425 58,537,318 1,075,330,532
67,739,455 1,244,373,788 58,548,857 1,075,542,503
(a) 2,000,200 36,743,674 2,000,200 36,743,674
65,739,255 1,207,630,114 56,548,657 1,038,798,829
67,739,455 1,244,373,788 58,548,857 1,075,542,503
2025 29

)

)

)

)

)

11 27
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2024
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2024 12 31
2,000,200 68,893,644 70,893,844
(12,344,987) (12,344,987)
2,000,200 56,548,657 58,548,857
9,190,598 9,190,598
2,000,200 65,739,255 67,739,455
36,743,674 1,265,576,240 1,302,319,914

(226,777,411)

(226,777,411)

36,743,674

1,038,798,829

1,075,542,503

168,831,285

168,831,285

36,743,674

1,207,630,114

1,244,373,788
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2024 12 31
2024 12 31

2024 2024 2023 2023
« ) 7,555,084 138,786,893 (12,353,065)  (226,925,804)
(3,159,756) (58.,044,718) (2,930,485) (53,833,000)

(
4,395,328 80,742,175  (15,283,560) , (280,758,997)
(489,207) (8,986,733) (1,019,623) (18,730,475)
9,916,792 182,171,469 25,236,907 463,601,982
13,822,913 253,926,912 8,933,734 164,112,694
(139,680) (2,565,922)
13,683,233 251,360,990 8,933,734 164,112,694
3,159,756 58,044,718 2,930,485 53,833,000
3,159,756 58,044,718 2,930,485 53,833,009
16,842,989 309,405,708 11,864,219 217,945,703
90,907,095  1,669,963,335 79,042,876 1,452,017,632
12 31
107,750,084 1,979,369,043 90,907,005  1,669,963,335
1 27 ( )
15,283,560 15,283,550
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2024 2023
45,421,853 52,090,112

2024 2023
15,115,231 38,427,221
15,653,675 18,471,070
7,266,517 7,241,318
565,410 518,306
55,733 586,455

2,456,260 1,039,393
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2024 2023
(9,688)
(9,688)
(1,635,514) 1,610
(1,635,514) (8,078)
2024 16.5 2023  16.5
2024 2023
7,555,084 (12,353,065)
16.5 2023 16.5 1,246,589 (2,038, 256)
(534,703) (307,534)
(9,688)
2,347,400
(2,347,400)

(1,635,514) (8,078)
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12 31

12 31
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2024 2023
139,680 149,368
(139, 680)
(9,688)
@
139,680
13,149 13,149
(1,610) (1,610)
11,539 11,539
11,539 11,539
(1,390) 1,636,904 1,635,514
10,149 1,636,904 1,647,053
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383

2024 2023
350,255 6,448,662
166,281 28,076

23,386 4,038,341
17,472 745,555
1,871,695
557,394 13,132,329
2024 2023
107,750,084 90,907,095
2024 2023
1,912,474 4,647,911
158,299 84,403
3,423,645 272,896

5,494,418 5,005,211
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2024 2023
903,915 2,532,842
45,712,774 34,184,160
535,411 518,306
47,152,100 37,235,308
2024 2023
12 31 20,002 2,000,200 20,002 2,000,200

135

2024 12
67,848,839 2023 58,548,857
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100,000

2024 2023
3,442,228 4,779,868
107,750,084 90,907,095
45,712,775 34,184,160

2024 2023
) 45,421,853 52,090,112
3,159,756 2,930,485

(15,653, 675)
(15,115, 231)

~
o

(18,471,070)
(38,427,221)

25

36
37
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10
43
44
45
46
47
48
2024 15
225 49
50
52
2203 53
54
55
56
57
59
60
62
2012

20 25 27 28 32 34 36 37 38 39 43 44 45 46 47 48 49
50 52 53 54 55 56 57 59 60
0.01 0.60
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39 45 48 57
55 55 55
70 2024 12 31 39
45 48 57
15,653,675 2023 :18,471,069

2024 2023

557,394 13,132,329
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2024 2023 12 31

2024 2023

2024
716,907 1,347,800 734

90 2,536,549 48,262,829
(1,653,637) (44,756,942) 1
90 1,599,819 4,853,687 735
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2023
3,343,596 1,581,695 595
233 1,999,361 23,843,035
(2,349,143) (34,247,534) @
233 2,993,814 (8,822,804) 594
2024 2023
5.06 5
(6.89) (16)
11.34 181,419 3.08 92,209
(2.89) (86,521)
2.31 17
(0.59) ) (7.59) (45)
2023
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
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12
2024 12 31
2024 12 31
13
2024 2023
2023
14 2024 12 31
2024 12 31

21 2025
2026
11 2026
18 2027

19 2027
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Citigraup Firs! fmvestment Managament Limied
Fnancal sfatemenls for ihe pear ended 31 December 2024

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2024
{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note 2024 2023

$ s

Revenue 2 45421853 52,090,112

Interest income 3,159,756 2,930,485

Foreign exchange gain/(loss) 86.301 {1,089,899)

48,667,910 53,930,698

Other operating expensas (41,112 826) (66,283,763)

Profit! (Loss) before taxation 3 7,555,084 (12,353.065)

Income tax 4(a) 1,635514 8,078
Income! {Loss) and total comprehensive

income! {loss) for the year 9,190,558 (12,344 887)

The notes on pages 11 to 27 form part of these financial statementis. Details of dividends
paid to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out
in note 13.
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Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

MNote 2024 2023
5 ¥
Non-current assets
Deferred tax assetls 4(d) 1,647,053 11,538
Current assets
Accounts receivable and other assels 7 5494 418 5,005,211
Cash and cash equivalents & 107,750,084 50,907,095
113,244,502 95,912,305
Current liahilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 8 47,152, 100 37235308
Current taxation 4({c) - 139,680
47,152,100 37374988
Net current assets 65,092,402 58,537 318
NET ASSETS 67,739,455 £8,548 857
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital Sia) 2,000,200 2,000,200
Reserves 656,739,255 56 548 657
TOTAL EQUITY §7.73%,455 58,548,857

Approve authorised for issue by the board of directerson 2 § APR 2025
,"""'u-__
I'f UTH £ ﬂ'{
il imin]
/ff/a.ﬂ"f -

Directors

e

The notes on pages 11 to 27 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2024

(Expressed in Hong Kong collars)

Nole

Balance at 1 January 2023
Total comprehensive loss for the
year
Dividend paid 13
Balance at 31 December 2023
Balance at 1 January 2024
Total comprehensive loss for the
year
Dividend paid 13

Balance at 31 December 2024

Share Relained
capital profits Tolal
¥ 3 5
2,000,200 G8.893 644 70,853,844
- (12,344 987) (12,344 987)
2,000,200 56,548 657 58,548 857
- 5,190,598 9,180,588
2,000,200 65,738,255 67,738,455

The notes on pages 11 to 27 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows

for the year ended 31 December 2024

{(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Operating activities
Profit/{loss) before taxation

Adjustment for:
Interest income

Operating cashflow before changes in
working capital

Increase in accounts receivable and other
assets

Increase in accounts payable and accrued
BXpENsSes

Cash generated from operating activities

Hong Kong Profits Tax paid

Cifgroup Fiest Invasimant Managament Limiled

Financial shafements for the year ended 31 December 2024

Note

MNet cash generated from operating activities

Investing activities

Interest recaived

MNet cash generated from investing activities

Met increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and eash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

2024 2023
i g

7,555,084 (12,353,065)
(3,159,756) (2,930,485)
4,395,328 (15,283,560)
(489,207) (1.018,623)
8,916,762 25,236,907
132,822,913 8,933,734
(139,680) :
13,683.233 8,933,734
3,159,756 2,930,485
3,158,758 2,930,485
16,842,989 11,864,219
90,907,085 79,042,876
107,750,084 80,007,005

The notes on pages 11 to 27 form part of these financial statements.
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Citigroun Firsl invasiman! Managamant [imied
Financial slalements for the year ended 31 Decembar 2024

Notes to the financial statements
{Expressed in Hong Kong doliars)

Material accounting policies
Statement of campliance

These financial staterents have bean prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRS
Accounting Standards, which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HEASs") and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA®™,
accounting principles generally accepted in Heng Kong and the regquirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. Material accounting policies adopted by the Company are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued cerlain amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Company. Note 1(c) provides
infoermation on any changes in accounting policies resulling frem initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Company for the current and prior
accounling periods reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the histerical
cost basis.

The Company has chosen Hong Kang dollars as its functional currency which reflects the
economic substance of the underlying assets and circumstances relevant to the Company.
All values are rounded to the nearest Hong Kong dollar, unless otherwise indicated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires managemant to
make judgements. estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on hisforical experience and various other faciors that are believed lo
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources, Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimales are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the

revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future pericds if the
revisian affects both current and future penods.

11
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Ciigroup Firsl fmvestimant Managemant Limirad
Furanceal siadermenis for the year ended 31 December 2024

Material accounting policies (continued)
Changes in accounting policies

A number of new standards are effective from 1 January 2024 but they do not have a
material effect on the Company's financial statements,

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and shori-term, highly liquid invesiments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at acguisition.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Company as revenue when it arises from the provision of services
in the ordinary course of the Company's business.

The Company is the principal for its revenue transactions and recognises revenue on a gross
basis. In delermining whether the Company acts as a principal or as an agent, il considers
whether it obtains control of the services before they are transferred 1o the customers.
Control refers to the Company's ability to direct the usa of and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits from the services.

Revenue is recognised when control over service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the Company is expacted to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Further details of the Company's revenue and other income recognition policies are as
follows:

Investment management fee income is recognised when the relevant services have been
rendered.

- Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest methed using the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial assat,

12
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Citigroup Firgl fmvestment Menagement Limred
Financial sfafamends for the pear anded 31 December 2024

Material accounting policies {continued)
Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an oulflow of economic benefits will be required
to setlle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where lhe time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected 1o settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an cutflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot ba estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more fulure events, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefils
is ramote.

Accounts and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the company has an uncaonditional right to receive
consideration, A right to receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before
the company has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount is presented as
a contract asset,

Account receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are initially
measured al their transaction price. Account receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
All receivables are subsaquently stated at amortised cost, using the effective interest method
and including an allowance for credit losses as determined below:

The loss allowance is measured al an amount egual to [ifetime expected credit losses
(ECLs), which are thosa losses that are expected to occur over the expected life of Ihe trade
receivables. The loss allowance is estimated using a provision matrix based on the
company's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debiors and an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic conditions at
the reporting date.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date with any changes recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The company recognises an impaiment gain or loss with a
corresponding adjustment to the camrying amount of trade and other receivable through a
loss allowance account,

Accounts payable

Account and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent to inilial
recognition, account and other payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.
Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities

13
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Financial sfalemends for the pear anded 31 Dacemher 2024

denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Hong Kong dollars al the exchange
rates ruling at the end of reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
slaterment of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Income fax

Incame tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets. Current
tax and movements in deferrad tax asseis are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to tems recognised in other comprehansive income or
directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in eguity, respectively.

Current tax is the expectad tax payable on the taxable incomea for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting perod, and any adjustment to
tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets anse from deductible temporary differencas, being the differencas
batween the camying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
Apari from differences which arise on initial recognition of assets and liabilties, all deferred
tax assels to the exient thal it is probable that future taxable profils will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or setllemant of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted al the end of reporting period. Deferred tax assets are not
discounted,

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented
separalely from each other and are nof offset.  Current tax assels are offset against current
tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities if, and only if, the
Cempany has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
iabilities. The principle of offsetting usually applies to income tax levied by the same lax
autharity on the same taxable entity.

Related parties

{a) A person, or a close member of that person's family, iz related to the Company if that
person:

{iy has control or joint control over the Company;
(i)  has significant influence over the Company. or

(i} s a member of the key management personnel of the Company or the
Company’s parent.

14
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1  Material accounting policies [continued)

(b)  Anentity is related to the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)

(wi)
{wii)

{wiii)

The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other antity is a mamber)

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Company or an entily related to the Company.

The entity is contralled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity criz a
member of the key management parsonnel of the entily {or of a parent of the
entity)

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key
managemeant parsonnel sarvicas to the Company or o the Company's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

2 Revenue

The principal activity of the Company is the provision of investment management services.

2024 2023
k3 :
Revenue from contracts with customers
within the scope of HKFRS 15
Investment management fee income 45 421,853 52,090,112
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3 Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

2024 2023

£ ]

Management fee expenses 15,115,231 38427221
Sub-manager fee expensas 15.653,675 18,471,070
Legal and professional fee 7,266,517 7,241 318
Auditors' remuneration 585410 518,306
Custody expenses 55733 586,455
Others 2,456,260 1,039,383

4 Income tax

{a) Income tax in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

reprasants:

2024 2023
5 4

Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax
Cwer-pravision in respect of the prier years - (9,688)
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year - -
- (9,668)

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (1,635,514) 1,610
(1,635,514) (8,078)

The provision for Hong Keng Profits Tax for 2024 is calculated at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the
estimated assessable profits for the yvear.
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Income tax (continued)

Reconciliation between income tax charged to profit or loss and accounting profit at
applicable tax rates:

2024 2023

Profitf{loss) before taxation 7,955,084 (12,353,063)
Motional tax on profit/{loss) before taxation at 16.5%

(2023: 16.5%) 1,246,589 (2,038,2586)
Tax effect of non-taxable income and non-deductible

loss (534,703) (307 534)
Over-provision in respect of prior years (9,688)
Tax loss not recognised - 2,347 400
Recognition of deferred tax assets on prior year tax

losses (2,347,400)
Actual tax (credit) (1,635,514) (8,078)

Current tax payable in the statement of financial position represents:

Note 2024 2023

] ]

Current taxation bought forward 135,680 149,368

Hong Kong Profits Tax Paid (135,680) -
Balance of Hong Kong Profits Tax provision

relating to prior years - (9.6B88)
Provision for Heng Kong Profits Tax for the

year 4{a) 2 =

- 139,680

17
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Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assels recognised:

The components of deferred tax assets recognised in the statement of financial position and
the movements during the year are as follows:

Depreciation
in excess of
ihe relaled
depreciation
allowances Tax loss Total
5 $ ]
At 1 January 2023 13,149 - 13,149
{Charged)icredited to statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income {1.610) - (1,610}
Al 31 December 2023 11,539 - 11,539
At 1 January 2024 11,539 - 11,538
(Charged)/credited lo statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income (1.380) 1,636,904 1635514
Al 31 December 2024 10,149 1,838,904 1,647,053

As at 31 December 2024, there is no significant deferred tax asset or liability not provided
for. As at 31 December 2023, the Company had estimated unused tax losses of
HK314 226 668 available for offset against future profils.

Directors’ emoluments
Directors’ emoluments disclesed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Heng Kong Companies

Crdinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulations are as follows:

2024 2023

3 3

Directors’ fees - -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 350,255 6,448 662
Discretionary bonuses 166,281 26,078
Share based payments 23,386 4 038,341
Ratirement scheme contributions 17,472 745 555
Post-employment benefits - 1,871,685
557,394 13,132,329
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6 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2024 2023
s ¥
Cash at bank 107,750,084 80,907,095
T Accounts receivable and other assets
2024 2023
5 ¥
Investment management fee receivable 1,812,474 4,647,911
Legal and professional fee receivable 158,289 84,403
Others 3,423 845 272 896
5,494 418 5,005,211

All of the above fee receivables are due from funds managed by the Company. All the fee
receivables are interest-free, unsecured and expected to be settied within three months.

8  Accounts payable and accrued expenses

2024 2023

5 3

Legal and professional fee payable 903,915 2,532,842
Intercompany payable 45712774 34,184 1860
Audit fee 535411 518,306
47 152,100 37,235,308

All accounts payable and accrued charges are interast free, unsecured and expecled to be
settled within three months.
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Share capital

Issued share capital

2024 2023
No. of No. aof
shares Amount shares Amaunt
3 5
Ordinary shares, issued and
fully paid:
At 1 January and 31 December 20,002 2,000,200 20,002 2,000,200

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the erdinary shares
of the Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time 1o time
and are entitled to one vole per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to the Company's residual assets.

Capital management

The Company's primary objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company's
ability to continue as a going concemn. As the Company is part of a larger group, the
Company's sources of additional capital and policies for distribution of excess capital may
also be affected by the group's capital management objectives,

The Company defines “capital” as including all compenents of equity. On this basis the amount
of capital employed at 31 December 2024 was 567 848,838 (2023: $58 548 857).

The Company's capital structure is regulary reviewed and managed with due regard lo the
capital management practices of the group to which the Company belongs. Adjustments are
made to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions affecting the
Company or the group, to the extent that these do not conflict with the directors' fiduciary
duties towards the Company or the requirements of the Hong Kong Companias Ordinance,

The results of the directors’ review of the Company's capital structure are used as a basis for
the determination of the level of dividends, if any, that are declared.

As a licensed corporation registered under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance,
the Company is also subject to the capital requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures (Financial Resources) Rules ("FRR"). The minimum liquid capital reguirement is the
higher of $100,000 and the variable required liquid capital as defined in the FRR. The
Company monitors its compliance with the requirements of the FRR on a daily basis. The
Company complied with the requiremeants of the FRR at all timeas during the year.
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10 Material related party transactions

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Company had
transaclions in the normal course of business with related parlies as follows:

fa) Statement of financial position

2024 2023
5 ¥
Assets
Accounts receivable and other assets 3,442 228 4 775 868
Cash and cash equivalents 107,750,084 80,907 095
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 45,712,775 34 184160
{b) Income and expenses
Note 2024 2023
g %
Income
Investment management fee income (i) 45421,853 52,080,112
Interest income 3,159,756 2,830 485
Expenses
Sub-manager fee expenses (i) (15,653,675} (18.471,070)
Management fee expenses (i) (15,115,231) (38,427 221)

The Company is the fund manager of the following funds during the year

- Templeton Global Bend Fund Foreign Currency Series {"Fund Series 20°) (Terminated on
11 Dec 2024)

- Global Balance Plus Fund ("Fund Series 257)

- US Focused Growth Equity Foreign Currency Series ("Fund Senes 277)

- Treasury Premium Plus Fund ("Fund Series 28"

- Treasury Premium Plus || Fund (*Fund Series 317)

- JGB Asset Swap Fund ("Fund Series 38")

- Mikkei 225 Intraday Fund ("Fund Series 377)

- China Hong Kong Equity Opportunities Fund ("Fund Saries 38°)
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Material related party transactions (continued)

Flexibeta Fund (VT3 Defensive and WT10 Active) ("Fund Series 437)

- USD Denominaied Cifigroup Note, Retum Referring the High Watermark of Global Muli
Asset Strategy Fund ("Fund Series 447)

- Global Mulli-Thematic Equity Fund ("Fund Series 457)

- US Equity Infraday Momentum Fund ("Fund Series 467)

- Algebris Financial Hybrid Securities Fund ("Fund Series 477)

- Agia Total Return Fixed Income Fund (‘Fund Series 48°) (Terminated on 15 March 2024)
Mikkei 225 Bear Intraday Fund ("Fund Series 497)

- S Large Cap Equity Intraday Fund ("Fund Series 507)

- UJS Large Cap Equity Bear Intraday Fund ("Fund Series 527}

- Citigroup Mote Target Setting at Malurity Fund 2203 ("Fund Series 537)

- Citigroup MNote Target Setting at Maturity Fund ("Fund Series 54%)

= US T-Note Bear intraday Fund ("Fund Series 55

- US TBA Bear Intraday Fund Series 1 { Fund Series 567

- Citigroup Note - Target Selting at Termination Fund ("Fund Series 577)

- JPY IR Bear Intraday Fund Series 2 (*Fund Series 55"}

- Citigroup Note - Index Linked Maturity Fund C"Fund Series 807)

- JGB Bear Intraday Fund Series 1 ("Fund Seres 627)

- CGMYL Index Target Volatility Fund 2012 (SP) ("CGMYL")
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Material related party transactions (continued)
The Company is entitled o fee income from the following funds under its management:
investment managementfadvisary fee income

For Fund Series 20, 25, 27, 28, 32, 34, 36, 37, 38, 30, 43, 44, 45 46, 47, 48, 48, 50, 52, 53,
54, 55, 58, 57, 59, 60, CGMYL and KAM, fees are calculated at 0.01% to 0.860% per annum
of the net asset value of the funds.

Pursuant to the sub-management agreement signed between the Company and the
sub-managers for Series 39, 45, 48 and 57, the sub-managers' fee expenses are payable o
the sub-managers calculated at 55%, 55%, 55% and 70% respectively of the gross
management fee income received. The total sub-managers’' fes expensas paid to the sub-
managers for Series 39, 45, 48 and 57 as at 31 December 2024 amounted to $15 653 675
(2023: $18,471,069).

Management fee expenseas

The Company paid management fee expenses to fellow subsidiaries, which provided
ancillary sale support services to the Company,

Key management personnel emoluments

Besides the direclors’ emoluments disclosed in note 5, the following were the key
management personnel emoluments.

2024 2023
s 3

Amounts disclosed include emoluments
totalling 557,394 13,132,329

Amounts disclosed emoluments to certain key management personnel were paid by fellow
subsidiaries within Citigroup (“group companies”). The Company did not directly reimburse
the group companies for the service provided.
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Financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interast rate risks and forgign currency risk arise in the
normal course of the Company's business. These risks are managed by the Company's
financial management policies and practices described below.

Credit risk

The Company’s cradit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents held at a
fellow subsidiary bank and oulstanding fees receivable arising from the Company's
investmant managemeant activities, Managament has a credit palicy in place and exposure ta
credit risks is monitored on an ongoing basis.

Managemenl fee receivables are ragularly reviewad and zettled on a regular schedule. For
the balance due from fellow subsidiaries, managemeant considers the default rigk of the
financial assets placed with the group companies to be remote.

The maximum exposure to credil risk is equal 1o the carrying amount of these financial
assets as of the end of the reporting period.

Liquidity risk

The Company’s liguidity sk management process is integrated into the liquidity and funding
procass and liguidity moniloring framework of Citigroup and broker dealers across the
Citigroup network, Citigroup pelicy requires Citigroup and broker dealers across the
Citigroup network {o maintain a streng liguidity position and ensure sufficient cash flows lo
meet both expected and unexpected current and future cash flow and coliateral needs.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, all financial liabilties mature within one year or are
repayable on demand. Details of the earliest contractual settlement dates of the financial
liabilities are dizcloged in notes 8.
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Cilwgroup First tvestiment Menagement Limed
Financia! sfataments for the pear snded 31 Dacamber 2024

11 Financial instruments (continued)
{c) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is tha risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuale because of changes in market interest rates. The Company does not hold any fixed
rate deposits which are measurad at fair value in the financial statements. The Company was
exposed to interest rate risk only to the extent that it earns bank interest on cash and cash
equivalents in 2024 and 2023 which is considered lo be insignificant.

{d) Currency risk

Currency risk ariges from the possibility that changes in foreign exchange rate will impact the
value of financial instruments.

To minimise the exposures to foreign currency risk, management ensures that the net
exposure is kept at an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates
where necessary lo cover the foreign currencies.

)] Exposure to currency risk
The following table details lhe Company's exposure at the end of the reporting period to

cumency risk arising from recognised assels or liabilities denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the Company to which they relale.

2024 2023
Ausiralan Jaganese us Cilnar Ausiralian Japanese us Cihar
Dodlors ¥en Dolars Currencera Drodiars Yerr Doliars Currenges
HED H¥D HeD HED HED HED HHD HKD
equivaen eguhakent equakant aguhakent BguRake egunalent equhakent equiva'gnt
ACCOUNSE
resCehiabbe and
olner assels - 18307 1.347 800 T34 - 3343 596 1581 B&2 ERE
Cazh arnd
cash
eguivalenls &0 2536 545 48 162 B9 - 233 1,888 361 23843035
Accounts
payable and
actrued
P « [1B53EIT) (44,756 847) 1 = (23450430 (34,247 632) (1
Crwarall nt
PN a0 1,599 819 4 853 BT 738 33 2993814  (6,822.804) 594

Hong Keng dellar ("HKD™) is pagged to the United States dollar ("USD"), the Company
therefare consider the risk of movements in exchange rates between the USD and the HKD
lo be insignificant.
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Francial siatermeants for the year anded 31 December 2024

Financial instruments {continued)
Sensilivity analysis

The following tatle indicates the instantaneous change on the Company's profit before tax
that would arise if foreign exchange rate to which the Company has significant exposure at
the end of reporting period had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables
remained constant.

2024 2023
Increases’ Increase’

{decreass) Increases’ (decreass) Increases

in foreign (decrease) in foreign {decrease)

exchange on profit exchange on profit

rales before tax ralas before tax

% 5 % 5

Australian dollars  Maximum 508 5 - -
Minimum - - (6.89) {16}

Japanese Yen Maximum 11.34 181,419 3.08 92,208
Minimum - - {2.89) (86,521)

Euro Maximum 2.3 17 - -
Minimum {0.58) {4) (7.58) (45)

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been applied
to re-measure those financial instrumeants held by the Company which expose the Company
to forgign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, including intercompany payables
and receivables that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency, The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2023.

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are considered not to be materially different
from the carrying values in the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024 and
31 December 2023.

Immediate and ultimate holding company

Al 31 December 2024, the directors consider the Company's immediate halding company to
be Citigroup Global Markets Hong Kong Holdings Limited, which was incorporated in Hong
Kong. This entity produces financial statements but not available for public use. lts ultimate
holding company at 31 December 2024 is considered to be Citigroup Inc., which was
incorporated in the United States of America. Ciligroup Inc. produces consolidated financial
statements under generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America,
which are available for public use
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Citigroup First invesiman! Manageman? Limited
Fmancial sralemends for the year ended 31 Decombar 2024

12 Dividend

14

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the year:

2024 2023
HKS HKF

Mo dividend in respect of the current financial year,
approved and paid during the year (2023: Nil) - -

Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of
rew ar amended standards, which are not yet effective for the yvear ended 31 Decembear
2024 and which have not been adopted in these financial statements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the Company.

Effective far

accaounting periods

beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign 1 January 2025
exchange rates: Lack of exchangeability

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and HKFRS 1 January 2026

7, Financial instruments: disclosures — Amendments to the
classification and measurement of financial instruments

Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards - 1 January 2026
Valume 11

HKFRS 18, Presenlation and disclosure in financial statements 1 January 2027
HKFRS 19, Subsidiares without public accountability: disclosures 1 January 2027

The Company is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
developments is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the financial statements.
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Independent Auditors Report to the Trustee

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Citigroup Note - Index Linked Maturity Fund (the" Series Trust”), a series
trust of Red Arc Glabal Investments (Cayman) Trust, set out on pages 6 to 33, which comprise the statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Series Trust as
at 31 December 2024, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA™).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Satements section of our report. We are independent of the Series Trust in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide abasis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The Series Trust may trandate these financia statements and our auditors report from English to Japanese. We have not
been engaged to perform any procedures over the tranglation. In the event of any inconsistencies between the English
and the Japanese versions of the financial statements and our auditors report, the English version shall prevail.
Information other than the Financial Satements and Auditors Report Thereon

The Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditors

’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge

obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we

arerequired to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust for the Financial Satements

The Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and for such internal control as the Manager
and the Trustee of the Series Trust determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for assessing the
Series Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust either intend to liquidate

the Series Trust or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.

We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic

decisions of userstaken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide abasis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations or the override of interna control.
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Series

Trust's interna control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager's and the Trustee's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Series Trust's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors report to the related disclosuresin the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Series Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financia statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financia statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

KPMG LLP

27 June 2025
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Independent auditor’s report to the member of
Citigroup First Investment Management Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Report on the audit of the financia statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Citigroup First Investment Management Limited (“the Company”) set out
on pages 7 to 27, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the statement of profit of
loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year
then ended and notes, to the financia statements, including a summary of material accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31
December 2024 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (*HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basisfor opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAS’) and with reference to
Practice Note 820 (Revised), The audit of licensed corporations and associated entities of intermediaries, issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsihilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the HKICPA'’
s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
abasisfor our opinion.

Information other than the financial statements and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises al the information included in
the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’'s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge

obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give atrue and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financia statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

In addition, the directors are required to ensure that the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept
under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong
Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and to
report to you on the other matters set out in the preceding paragraph, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. In addition, we are required to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities
and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
(Accounts and Audit) Rules

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Company’s interna control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

253/254



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financia statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficienciesin internal control that we identify during our audit.

Report on matters under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and Hong Kong Securities
and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance

In our opinion, the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts
and Audit) Rules.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’ s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

29 April 2025
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